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I.  INTRODUCTION.

This post-decisional motion is a jurisdictional predicate1 to Stein, Inc.’s (“Stein” or “the Company”) 

right to appeal that discreet portion of the National Labor Relation Board’s (“NLRB”) January 28, 2020 

Decision and Order, holding that the Company violated §§ 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act through its 

probationary-period discharge of Mr. Ken Karoly.2 The NLRB, for the first time in this long-running dispute,3

advanced a rationale for sustaining the § 8(a)(5) discharge-challenging claim against Stein that: (1) was 

never made or advanced in the unfair labor practice charge filed on behalf of Karoly; (2) was never made 

or advanced in the General Counsel’s Second Amended Consolidated Complaint; (3) was not advanced or 

argued by counsel for the General Counsel at any point in time during the four day hearing of this matter; 

(4) was not a rationale analyzed or adopted by the Administrative Law Judge4; and (5) is factually incorrect 

based upon admitted and uncontested documents, and Karoly’s own testimony. 

Under these circumstances, not only is reconsideration, re-hearing, and re-opening of the record 

appropriate, denying such is very likely to result in circuit reversal. Trident Seafoods, Inc. v. NLRB, 101 F.3d 

111, 116-117 (D.C. Cir. 1996); Collective Concrete, Inc. v. NLRB, 786 F. Appx. 266, **266-267 (D.C. Cir. 

2019).

1 Where, as here, the NLRB decides a case, or a portion of a case, on a basis not previously raised 
or argued, a motion for reconsideration or re-hearing is a condition precedent to circuit review. 
See, Ladies’ Garment Workers v. Quality Mfg., 420 U.S. 276, 281, n. 3, 95 S.Ct. 972 (1975).  

2 Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. p. 4, n. 12 (2020). The parties stipulated that Karoly’s 
discharge did not violate § 8(a)(3) of the Act (Jt. Stip. ¶¶ 32, 33).

3 Mr. Karoly’s unfair labor practice charge was filed back on May 8, 2018 (G.C. Exh. 1, passim).

4 In its Decision and Order, the NLRB stated that it was analyzing and sustaining Karoly’s NLRA-
challenging termination of employment claim “…under a different rationale than the 
[Administrative Law] Judge”. Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. p. 4.
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II.  STATEMENT OF FACTS.

A.  The Charge and Second Amended Consolidated Complaint.

The pre-hearing unfair labor practice charge filed on behalf of Mr. Karoly made no claim or 

allegation, express or implied, that his probationary-period termination from Stein was § 8(a)(5)-violative 

because, allegedly, Stein had somehow altered the probationary period under which Karoly was 

discharged from the Burns5-imposed initial terms and conditions of employment lawfully implemented by 

Stein (G.C. Exh. 1, et seq.). In fact, Karoly’s unfair labor practice charge made no mention whatsoever of a 

November 9, 2018 Stein employee communication that the NLRB determined “…set forth the wages, 

holidays, and seniority that would apply to employees hired by Respondent Stein and stated that ‘[a]ll 

prospective employees will be subject to a 90-day probationary period, a physical, and a background 

check’”. Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. p. 1.

In Stein’s charge-response position statement submitted to Region 9 of the NLRB,6 Stein touted 

its Burns’ rights -- rights the NLRB ultimately determined to be inviolate and the basis for reversing the 

Administrative Law Judge7 -- and made it perfectly clear that the November 9 employee communication 

set forth a 90 working day probationary period:

5 NLRB v. Burns Int’l. Sec. Srvc., 406 U.S. 272, 92 S.Ct. 1571 (1972).

6 Stein’s June 18, 2018 charge-responding position statement submitted to Region 9 of the NLRB 
is appended hereto at Tab “A”.

7

The Judge found that because Respondent Stein forfeited its right to set the initial 
terms and conditions of employment for Laborers’ Local 534 unit employees, 
Respondent Stein unlawfully applied a probationary period longer than what was 
in the expired Laborer’s Local 534 collective-bargaining agreement with its 
predecessor. However, as we have already found, Respondent Stein had the right 
to set the initial terms and conditions of employment of the Laborers Local 534 
unit employees.

Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. p. 4.
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Significantly, one of the initial terms and conditions of employment that Stein, exercising 

its Burns right, informed prospective employees that they would be subject to was a 90-

day working probationary period (Doc. No. 0088).

(Attach. “A”, p. 3) (emphasis in original).

To be sure, the text of Stein’s November 9 employee communication did not state “90-day 

working probationary period”, but neither did it state that the Burns-imposed terms and conditions for 

the successor Stein was a “90-day calendar day probationary period” (Attach. “A”, p. 0088). Yet, from the 

inception, before there were any adverse findings of fact or conclusions of law against Stein, Stein made 

it abundantly clear to Region 9 of the NLRB that it’s Burns-imposed terms and conditions of employment 

included a “…90 working day probationary period” (Attach. “A”, p. 3) (emphasis in original). 

Region 9’s Second Amended Complaint, in two different respects, conceded that Karoly was in, 

and subject to a 90 working day probationary period. First, Region 9 averred that Stein’s Bruns rights 

attached on “January 1, 2018” when Stein “…unilaterally implemented initial terms and conditions of the 

Unit” (Sec. Amend. Consolid. Compl. ¶ 11(c)). The complaint-incorporated document was Stein’s labor 

agreement with IUOE Local 18, and it made perfectly clear the probationary period was 90 working days:

The probationary period shall be the ninety (90) days of actual work.

(Jt. Stip. ¶ 26; Jt. Stip. Exh. 16, p. 5, § 17.05) (emphasis added). Second, Region 9 plead its challenge to 

Karoly’s discharge as one arising under Total Security Management, 364 NLRB No. 106 (2016), which 

would require that Karoly still be in his probationary period when terminated, and subject to Stein’s 

discretion:

12. (a)  On about April 18, 2018 Respondent Stein discharged Kenneth Karoly.
(b)  Respondent Stein engaged in the conduct described above in paragraph 12(a) 

based on terms and conditions of employment described above in 
paragraphs 11(b)(x) and (xiii). 

(c) Respondent Stein exercised discretion when it engaged in the conduct 
described above in paragraphs 12(a) and (b).

* * *
(e) Respondent Stein engaged in the conduct described above in paragraphs 

12(a)-(c) without prior notice to Laborers Local 534 and without affording 
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Laborers Local 534 an opportunity to bargain with Respondent Stein with 
respect to this conduct.

(Jt. Stip. Exh. 16, pp. 7-8).

B.  The General Counsel’s Litigation Position at the Evidentiary Hearing.

Counsel for the General Counsel’s hearing and evidentiary position readily conceded that Stein’s 

Burns-imposed probationary period was indeed 90 working days, because that was the only way Region 

9 could fit its contest of Karoly’s discharge into the litigated-basis for its legal challenge -- Total Security 

Management, 364 NLRB No. 106 (2016). In its post-hearing brief to the ALJ, Counsel for the General 

Counsel conceded ---- as it had to in order to grab the mantle of the discharge-discretion required of Total 

Sec. Mngmt. --- that Karoly was still in his 90-day working probationary period when terminated by Stein:

“The imposition of discipline on individual employees alters their terms and conditions of 
employment and implicates the duty to bargain if it is not controlled by preexisting, 
nondiscretionary employer policies or practices”. Total Security Management, 364 NLRB 
No. 106, slip op. at 3.

* * *
Thus, Total Security Management obligates an employer – after it is has preliminarily 
decided to impose serious discipline, including discharge – to “provide the union with 
notice and an opportunity to bargain over the discretionary aspects of its decision before
proceeding to impose the discipline”. Id. at 10 (emphasis in original).

* * *
In terminating Karoly, Respondent Stein did not accuse Karoly of violating specific work 
rules. On the contrary, Respondent Stein relied solely on the contractual probationary 
period to justify Karoly’s termination. 

* * *
That Respondent relied solely on its discretion under the contractual probationary period 
is highlighted by its navigation of the disciplinary procedures in its contract – albeit an 
unlawful contract – with Respondent Local 18. Article 17.05 states that “[p]robationary 
employees may be laid off or discharged as exclusive [sic] determined by the Company…” 
(J. Ex. 16, p. 15).

* * *
Respondent Stein’s sole reliance on the contractual probationary period – how it easy it 
may have been – exposes its decision for what it really was: the ultimate use of 
discretionary discipline.

* * *
For the reasons discussed above, Respondent Stein violated Section 8(a)(5) of the Act by 
failing or refusing to notify and bargain with Laborers Local 534 prior to using its discretion 
to terminate Karoly.

(G.C. Post-Hearing Brief to ALJ, pp. 29-32) (Attach. “B”).
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Relying solely on Total Security Management as its § 8(a)(5) predicate basis to upset the 

probationary-period discharge of Karoly, not once did Counsel for the General Counsel contend, assert, 

or argue that Stein had purportedly and impermissibly altered its Burns-imposed terms and conditions of 

employment from 90 calendar days, to 90 working days. 

When the proverbial shoe has been on the other foot, and it is has been the employer that has 

failed to advance a theory or argument before a Board ALJ, the circuit courts have held that the doctrine 

of waiver will not allow the reviewing circuit to base its analysis and ruling on a new-found theory never 

advanced before the administrative law judge:

The court is unable to address petitioners’ second challenge because it was not presented 
to the ALJ and the petitioners’ point to no extenuating circumstances that might excuse 
this failure. See, Trident Seafoods, Inc. v. NLRB, 101 F.3d 111, 116-17 (D.C. Cir. 1996). 

* * *
Because petitioners’ waited to raise the issue of equities until they filed their exceptions 
with the Board, the Board’s General Counsel was not on notice of the equities argument 
at the time of the hearing before the ALJ and consequently did not have “any real 
opportunity to cross-examine witnesses on this point or to provide counterevidence.”
Trident Seafoods, 101 F.3d at 117.

* * *
“[A] basic tenet of administrative law [is] that each party to a formal adjudication must 
have a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue to be decided by the agency,” Trident 
Seafoods, 101 F.3d at 116, because otherwise, “the record developed with regard to that 
issue will usually be inadequate to support a substantive finding in [the proponent’s] 
favor”, Id.

Collective Concrete, Inc. v. NLRB, 286 F. Appx. 266, *267 (D.C. Cir. 2019).

C.  The ALJ’s New-Found § 8(a)(5) Theory Viz Karoly.

The ALJ, no-doubt cognizant of the fact that Total Security Management and its progeny was apt 

to be reversed by this Board,8 invented on his own an altogether different – and Board-decreed erroneous 

– theory to protect Karoly under § 8(a)(5) of the Act:

8 In OM 17-14 (Feb. 14, 2017), the General Counsel of the NLRB instructed its Regional Directors 
that they were to seek advice from compliance when presented with a Total Security 
Management issue, and only after obtaining a recommendation, move such an issue forward by 
combining the merits hearing with the compliance specification. Id. What’s more, the NLRB has 
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The Judge found that because Respondent Stein forfeited its right to set the initial terms 
and conditions of employment for the Laborers Local 534 unit employees, Respondent 
Stein unlawfully applied a probationary period longer than what was in the expired 
Laborers’ Local 534 collective-bargaining agreement with its predecessor. However, as we 
have already found, Respondent Stein had the right to set the initial terms and conditions 
of employment of the Laborers’ Local 534 unit employees.

Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. at p. 4.

So, the Board ALJ here not only manufactured an altogether new legal theory in an effort to 

protect Karoly by § 8(a)(5), it was a theory that this Board correctly ruled to be erroneous.

D.  The NLRB’s New-Found § 8(a)(5) Theory Viz Karoly.

In its January 28, 2020 Decision and Order, after reversing the ALJ’s altogether new Karoly theory 

of liability, the Board articulated yet another legal theory that was never pressed or presented at or before 

the evidentiary hearing, to wit:

As of April 18, 2018, when it discharged Karoly, Respondent Stein had not negotiated a 
change to that 90-day probationary period with Karoly’s bargaining representative, 
Laborers Local 534. As a consequence, under the terms Respondent Stein set forth in 
hiring Karoly and his coworkers [announced November 9], Karoly’s probationary period 
had elapsed by the date he was discharged. Because Respondent Stein discharged Karoly 
pursuant to a probationary period that it had unlawfully unilaterally extended – from “90 
day[s]” to “90 days of actual work” – we find that Respondent Stein violated Section 
8(a)(5) and (1).

Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. p. 4 (emphasis added).

III.  LAW AND ARGUMENT.

First of all, the Board’s statement that “…Karoly’s probationary period had elapsed by the date he 

was discharged” is the exact opposite of what Counsel for the General Counsel argued and advanced to 

the ALJ:

Respondent Stein relied solely on the contractual probationary period to justify Karoly’s 
termination.

* * *

openly questioned the continued legality and viability of Total Security Management. See, 
Oberthur Technologies of America Corp., 368 NLRB No. 5, n. 2 (2019).
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That Respondent relied solely on its discretion under the contractual probationary period
is highlighted by its navigation of the disciplinary procedures in its contract – albeit an 
unlawful contract – with Respondent Local 18. 

* * *
But just like the proverbial double-edged sword, Respondent Stein’s sole reliance on the 
contractual probationary period – however easy it may have been – exposes its decision
for what it really was: the ultimate use of discretionary discipline.

(G.C. ALJ Br., pp. 31-32) (Attach. “B”) (emphasis added).

Counsel for the General Counsel’s advocated position that Karoly was still in his 90 working day 

probationary period had testimonial backing in the record by Karoly himself:

[BY NLRB COUNSEL GOODE OF KEN KAROLY]

Q. And ultimately did [Stein] tell you why you were being terminated?

A. They said because of my probationary period at the time they had --- were in their 
right to terminate me.

(Tr. 417). Although Karoly disputed some aspects of his discharge meeting and announced discharge 

decision,9 he did not further testify on his direct or cross examinations that Stein’s discharge statement 

that he was in his 90 working day probationary period was not factually accurate.

Secondly, and perhaps more importantly, the Board’s decisional presumption that Stein somehow 

had “…unlawfully unilaterally extended the probationary period” – from “90 day[s]” to “90 days of actual 

work”10 is factually incorrect. Before this litigation even started, before the theories of liability invoked to 

protect Karoly were ever advanced or briefed, and in its Burns announcement of initial terms and 

9 Karoly did dispute that in his discharge meeting that Stein had cited Karoly’s repeated failures 
to answer his AK/Stein safety cellular phone (Tr. 449-452, 458-459). In his first NLRB investigative 
affidavit, Karoly averred that his repeated failures to answer his safety phone was indeed 
discussed in his termination meeting (Tr. 450-452). Then, Region 9 hailed Karoly in again to swear 
out a second affidavit, where he denied discussing his not answering his safety phone in his Stein 
termination meeting (Tr. 458-459).

10 Stein, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 10, slip op. p. 4; Jt. Exh. 16, p. 5, § 17.05.
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conditions of employment, Stein made it perfectly clear that the new employee probationary period was

a “…90-day working probationary period” (Attach. “A”, p. 3) (emphasis in original).

Finally, the ALJ’s on-again, off-again, and the NLRB’s on-again, off-again § 8(a)(5) theories that 

were summoned forth to cloak Karoly with protection under the Act --- in contradiction to the legal theory 

actually announced and advocated by Region 9 --- violated Stein’s “fair notice” and Due Process rights 

under the Board’s rules, the United States Constitution, and the Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. § 

554(b)(2). If the NLRB’s theory of liability in its notice-issuing complaint is different than that upon which 

liability is ultimately predicated, and Counsel for General Counsel was aware of the predicate acts forming 

the basis for the new, unannounced theory of liability before the hearing, the federal circuits and even 

the Board itself have held that the shifted theory cannot pass Constitutional, statutory, or procedural rule 

muster. Henry Bierce Co. v. NLRB, 23 F.3d 1101, 1106-1108 (6th Cir. 1994) (reversing NLRB); Post Corp. v. 

Newspaper Guild of N.Y., 283 NLRB 430 (1987) (reversing ALJ).

IV.  CONCLUSION.

The NLRB’s Case Handling Manual and procedural regulations encourages the use of a motion for 

reconsideration in circumstances precisely as those presented here. NLRB Case Handling Manual, 

¶ 10132.4; 29 C.F.R. § 102.48(d)(2). For the reasons detailed supra, the Board’s January 28, 2020 Decision 

and Order relating to Mr. Karoly’s § 8(a)(5) termination should be withdrawn; a new decision and order 

with respect to Mr. Karoly should issue based on the facts, evidence and circumstances set forth at trial 

and herein; or, alternatively, the claim relating to Mr. Karoly and his termination should be re-heard or 

the evidentiary record re-opened.
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